
ANTITRUST

Control and maintenance of competition in the marketplace via
methods that promote fair business behavior, free access to the
marketplace, and the dispersal of private economic power are the
primary goals of federal antitrust legislation.' Theoretically, such
regulation will facilitate resource allocation, efficiency in produc-
tion and marketing, and an increased incentive to develop technical
and scientific improvements.2

Nineteen antitrust decisions were rendered by the Fifth Circuit
during the current survey period, necessitating the application of
the Sherman Act,' the Clayton Act,4 and the Robinson-Patman
Act.5 These decisions examined (1) the jurisdictional and standing
requirements of the federal antitrust statutes, and (2) the appropri-
ateness of applying a "rule of reason" instead of a "per se" analysis
to the alleged antitrust violations of price fixing, territorial/
customer restrictions, tying arrangements, agreements/conspira-
cies in restraint of trade, and attempts to monopolize. Each of
the reported decisions will be reviewed in the context of the topical
areas of antitrust law considered in the case. Procedural issues and
rulings will be reviewed concurrently with the substantive issues
that generated the procedural questions.

I. OVERVIEW OF THE FEDERAL ANTITRUST STATUTES

The prohibitions of the Sherman Act fall within two broad
categories: (1) contracts, combinations and conspiracies in restraint
of trade;6 and (2) monopolization and attempts to monopolize.7 Sec-
tion 1 of the Act, which governs contracts, combinations, and con-
spiracies in restraint of trade, has been interpreted to require a
threshold finding of concerted action by two or more parties that

1. L. SULLIVAN, HANDBOOK OF THE LAW OF ANTITRUST § 5, at 20-21 (1977) (hereinafter
cited as L. SULLIVAN).

2. Id. at 21.
3. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-7 (1976).
4. Id. §§ 12-27.
5. Id. § 13.
6. Id. § 1. Section 1 provides, in part, that "[elvery contract, combination in the form

of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the several
States, or with foreign nations, is declared to be illegal .... "

7. 15 U.S.C. § 2 (1976). Section 2 provides, in part, that "[e]very person who shall
monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire with any other person or
persons, to monopolize any part of the trade or commerce among the several States, or with
foreign nations, shall be deemed guilty of a felony .. "
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results in a prohibited effect on interstate commerce.' Section 2,
which governs monopolization and attempts to monopolize, how-
ever, is applicable to unilateral or multipartite conduct that imper-
missibly affects interstate commerce?

The substantive provisions of the Clayton Act, as contrasted
with the broad prohibitive language of the Sherman Act, precisely
specify conduct that is illegal.'0 Yet, each prohibition is qualified;
illegality results only "where the effect . . . may be substantially
to lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in any line of
commerce. . . ."" The specific conduct and business arrangements
prohibited by the Clayton Act include (1) discrimination in prices,
services, or facilities, 2 (2) tying and exclusive dealing arrange-
ments," (3) certain mergers, stock or assets acquisitions between
corporate entities, 4 and (4) interlocking directorates and officers
among competing companies. 5 Section 2 of the Clayton Act, dealing
with price discrimination, was amended by the Robinson-Patman
Act."

II. JURISDICTIONAL AND STANDING REQUIREMENTS

A. Jurisdiction and Standing-Domestic

To satsify the interstate commerce requirements of the Sher-
man Act, two jurisdictional tests have been applied. First, the plain-
tiff may allege that the contested activity occurred "in" or "in the
flow of" interstate commerce."7 Alternatively, the plaintiff may al-
lege that the contested activity "substantially affects" interstate
commerce."8 Despite apparent similarities between the two jurisdic-
tional tests, differences exist in their application. Under the "flow"
theory, an activity is subject to the Sherman Act regardless of the

8. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 3, at 13.
9. Id.
10. Id.
11. 15 U.S.C. §§ 12-27 (1976).
12. Id. § 13.
13. Id. § 14.
14. Id. § 18.
15. Id. § 19.
16. Id. § 13.
17. Burke v. Ford, 389 U.S. 320, 321 (1967); Radiant Burners, Inc. v. Peoples Gas Light

& Coke Co., 364 U.S. 656, 660 (1961). This jurisdictional theory is sometimes referred to as
the "flow" theory.

18. Hospital Bldg. Co. v. Trustees of Rex Hosp., 425 U.S. 738, 743-44 (1976); Burke v.
Ford, 389 U.S. 320, 321 (1967); Mandeville Island Farms, Inc. v. United States, 334 U.S. 219,
234 (1948). This jurisdictional theory is sometimes referred to as the "effect" theory.
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local character or quantitative effect of the activity if the activity
occurs "in" or "in the flow" of interstate commerce." Under the
"effect" theory, however, an examination of the quantitative ele-
ments is necessitated by the requirements of a logical, causal
connection between the activity and the flow of commerce and a
resulting substantial effect upon interstate commerce.2

During the current survey period, jurisdictional issues before
the court concerned the interstate commerce requirement and cer-
tain exemption statutes that preclude application of the Sherman
Act. In McLain v. Real Estate Board, Inc.,"t plaintiff brought a class
action on behalf of residential buyers and sellers in New Orleans,
Louisiana, alleging a price-fixing conspiracy of real estate broker-
age22 services in violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act. 2 The
defendants asserted that the activities were beyond the reach of the
Sherman Act because the activities were wholly intrastate in na-
ture. 4 In reviewing plaintiff's challenge to the dismissal of the
cause, the Fifth Circuit found that jurisdiction was not sustainable
under the "flow" theory because all the alleged activities were in-
trastate and purely local in nature.2 The court relied upon an exclu-
sionary inference derived from dictum in United States v. National
Association of Real Estate Boards26 in which the Supreme Court
stated that, "[t]he fact that no interstate commerce is involved is
not a barrier to this suit." The exclusionary inference drawn was
that "real estate brokers do not operate within the flow of com-
merce. 1 8 The Fifth Circuit, however, limited its holding stating
that, although the pleadings in McLain did not confer jurisdiction
under the "flow" theory, pleadings that alleged price fixing in ap-
preciable sales to non-resident buyers might present a different
case. 29

19. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 233, at 709-10. See United States v. Socony-Vacuum
Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 223-24 (1940).

20. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 233, at 710. See Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421
U.S. 773, 785 (1975), citing United States v. Socony Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150 (1940).

21. 583 F.2d 1315 (5th Cir. Nov. 1978), vacated and remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S.
Jan. 8, 1980).

22. Id. at 1317-18.
23. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976).
24. 583 F.2d at 1318.
25. Id. at 1319.
26. 339 U.S. 485 (1950).
27. Id. at 488.
28. McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1319 (5th Cir. Nov. 1978), vacated

and remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980). See Hill v. Art Rice Realty Co., 66
F.R.D. 449, 454 (N.D. Ala. 1974), aff'd, 511 F.2d 1400 (5th Cir. 1975).

29. 583 F.2d at 1319.

1980]
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The McLain court next considered plaintiffs alternative juris-
dictional argument that the brokerage activities were within the
reach of the Sherman Act under the "effect" theory.' Plaintiff ini-
tially contended that the interstate commerce nexus was estab-
lished by virtue of the interstate travel of customers.3' The Fifth
Circuit rejected the "interstate travel of customers" theory, analo-
gizing the activity to that which generated only "'remote' or
'incidental' consequences to interstate commerce."32

Plaintiff next contended that out-of-state financing and acquis-
ition of title insurance was sufficient to confer Sherman Act jurisdic-
tion under the "effects" theory.3 In this regard, plaintiff advanced
three supporting arguments. Plaintiffs first contention was that per
se violations, such as price fixing, give rise to a presumption of a
substantial effect on interstate commerce .3 Plaintiffs argument for
an abbreviated jurisdictional inquiry in per se cases was rejected by
the Fifth Circuit,35 which followed the analysis generally employed
by the Supreme Court.36 Under this standard, application of juris-
dictional tests requires a two-tier inquiry that focuses upon (1) "an
identification of a substantial quantity of interstate commerce" 37

and (2) "a determination of whether the allegedly restrained activ-
ity plays a 'necessary' or 'integral' role in that substantial com-
merce." 38 As the court noted, a per se allegation may not circumvent
a finding that the alleged activity substantially affects interstate
commerce.9

Plaintiffs second supporting argument was based upon the fac-
tual similarity between the instant case and Goldfarb v. Virginia

30. Id.
31. Id. at 1320.
32. Id. at 1320 n.4, citing Lieberthal v. North Country Lanes, Inc., 332 F.2d 269, 271-

72 (2d Cir. 1964). Plaintiff's complaint lacked specificity in that the allegation merely stated
that "persons [are] moving into and out of the Greater New Orleans area." 583 F.2d at 1320.

33. McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1320 (5th Cir. Nov. 1978), vacated
and remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980).

34. Id.
35. Id.
36. Id. at 1321, citing Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar, 421 U.S. 773 (1975); United States

v. Women's Sportswear Mfg. Ass'n., 336 U.S. 460 (1949); Mandeville Island Farms, Inc. v.
American Crystal Sugar Co., 334 U.S. 219 (1948); and United States v. Yellow Cab Co., 332
U.S. 218 (1947).

37. McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1321 (5th Cir. 1978), vacated and
remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980).

38. Id.
39. Id., citing and explaining Burke v. Ford, 389 U.S. 320 (1967).
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State Bar.10 In Goldfarb, jurisdiction of alleged price-fixing by attor-
neys for title examinations was sustained." The Supreme Court
determined that the brokerage activities in Goldfarb substantially
affected interstate commerce because of the "necessary" and
"integral" function of the services performed by the attorneys in
obtaining title insurance or realty financing. 2 The Fifth Circuit
distinguished Goldfarb, however, indicating that the real estate bro-
kerage activities in McLain3 were merely "incidental to" the inter-
state commerce of title insurance and real estate financing since the
brokerage activities did not include the procurement of financing or
insurance." Thus, the brokerage activities held "incidental" roles in
interstate commerce as contrasted with the "integral" functions
performed by attorneys in Goldfarb.5

Plaintiff's third contention under the "effects" theory alleged
that because of the inextricability of the substantive issues with the
jurisdictional issues, final resolution of the jurisdictional questions
should await a trial on the merits. 6 Noting that the factual and
jurisdictional issues were not "completely intermeshed," the Fifth
Circuit rejected plaintiff's contention and sustained the pre-trial
dismissal .4"

The second case decided during the survey period that exam-
ined jurisdictional issues under the Sherman Act was Feminist
Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad.'8 Plaintiff alleged vio-
lations of section 1 of the Sherman Act 9 on the grounds that area
physicians had conspired to boycott plaintiff's abortion clinic and
to fix prices for abortions in the Tallahassee, Florida region.50 Addi-

40. 421 U.S. 773 (1975).
41. Id.
42. McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1322-23 (5th Cir. 1978), vacated

and remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980), citing Goldfarb v. Virginia State Bar,
421 U.S. 773 (1975), where the title examination services performed by the attorneys were
statutorily mandated and could be performed only by attorneys.

43. 583 F.2d at 1322-23.
44. Id. The court noted the origin of and continued vitality of the "incidental" versus

"integral" analysis. See United States v. Yellow Cab Co., 332 U.S. 218 (1947).
45. McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1321 (5th Cir. 1978), vacated and

remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980).
46. Id. at 1320.
47. Id. at 1323.
48. 586 F.2d 530 (5th Cir. Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).
49. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976). See note 6 supra, and accompanying text. Jurisdiction was

predicated on sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act which afford private plaii.tiffs a forum in
federal district courts for treble damages and injunctive relief from injuries resulting from
federal antitrust law violations. 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26 (1976).

50. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 535 (5th Cir.

1980]
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tionally, plaintiff alleged violations of section 2 of the Sherman
Act.' Plaintiff argued that the challenged activities were part of a
combination among the physicians to monopolize the market for
providing health and abortion services.2 Evidence presented in sup-
port of jurisdiction included (1) the proximity of the clinic to the
state border and the region-wide service provided by the center," (2)
contacts with out-of-state businesses," and (3) the volume of busi-
ness and gross receipts attributable to the out-of-state clients.55

Relying on Lehrman v. Gulf Oil Corp.5" and Cooper Liquor, Inc. v.
Adolph Coors Co.,57 the Fifth Circuit concluded that these factors
were sufficient to establish jurisdiction. 58 The court rejected defen-
dant's contention that the flow of interstate patients should be dis-
regarded in determining the substantiality of thWe effect of the al-
leged restraints upon interstate commerce. 9 The court stressed that
the quantum of business derived from out-of-state patients was one
factor to be considered in determining the likelihood of a substantial
adverse effect upon interstate commerce. 0 In the court's view,
plaintiff had alleged a likelihood of substantial impact on interstate

Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).
51. 15 U.S.C. § 2 (1976). See note 7 supra, and accompanying text. Jurisdiction was

predicated on sections 4 and 16 of the Clayton Act which afford private plaintiffs a forum in
federal district courts. 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26 (1976).

52. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammed, 586 F.2d 530, 535 (5th Cir.
Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).

53. Id. at 539. The center was located within 30 to 35 miles of the state line between
Florida and Georgia.

54. Id. Payments from out-of-state insurance companies amounting to $562.00 had been
received by the center, purchases of supplies and equipment worth $9,845.34 had been made
from out-of-state businesses, and interstate travel by officers and employees of the center cost
$4,340.65. Id.

55. Id. Eight percent of the abortions performed by the center were on out-of-state
clients and grossed $26,400 for the center.

56. 464 F.2d 26 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1077 (1972).
57. 506 F.2d 934 (5th Cir. 1975).
58. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammed, 586 F.2d 530, 541 (5th Cir.

Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).
59. Id. at 540. By disregarding the flow of interstate patients under the theory that

interstate traffic of clientele was insufficient to convert the center into an interstate business,
defendant attacked the substantiality of interstate involvement, maintaining that the nexus
was de minimus.

60. Id. at 540-41. The Fifth Circuit distinguished McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc.,
holding that the decisions in McLain and Feminist Women's Health Center were not incon-
sistent since McLain hinged upon the result of the specific allegations of the complaint which
were found to result in only remote or incidental effects upon interstate commerce. Id., at
540 n.3, citing McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1319 (5th Cir. Nov. 1978),
vacated and remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980).
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commerce6 ' within "the boundaries suggested by the 'general
sense'9) of Fifth Circuit decisions on Sherman Act jurisdiction. 2

Thus, while conclusionary allegations such as those alleged in
McLain 3 will not support Sherman Act jurisdiction, it appears that,
when specificity is combined with the massing of effects approach
alleged in Feminist Women's Health Center,4 such allegations will
sustain jurisdiction. A plaintiff's cause may still be defeated, how-
ever, if characterized as "remote" or "incidental."

The Fifth Circuit examined the stingency of the standing re-
quirements of the Clayton Act 5 in Hayes v. Solomon. 6 Section 4
of the Clayton Act forms the basis of private antitrust actions by
granting private parties the right to bring treble damage suits for
violations of the antitrust laws. 7 In the Fifth Circuit, the target area
test is applied to determine standing in private actions under sec-
tion 4.18 In order to have standing under this test, the complainant
must be "one against whom the conspiracy is aimed" and must
prove that he is "within that sector of the economy which is endan-

61. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 540 (5th Cir.
Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979), citing St. Bernard Gen. Hosp.,
Inc. v. Hospital Serv. Ass'n, 510 F.2d 1121, 1125 (5th Cir. 1975) and Lehrman v. Gulf Oil
Corp., 464 F.2d 26, 48 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1077 (1972).

62. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 541 (5th Cir.
Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979). Plaintiff's allegations were suffi-
cient as compared with Lehrman v. Gulf Oil Corp. where jurisdiction was sustained on the
theory that the effect on other products sold by the plaintiff which did move in interstate
commerce would be a decrease of substantial quantity to support jurisdiction under the
"effects" theory if the defendant ceased supplying the plaintiff with the product allegedly
being restrained which did not move in interstate commerce. Id., citing Lehrman v. Gulf Oil
Corp., 464 F.2d 26, 35-36 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1077 (1972).

63. McLain v. Real Estate Bd., Inc., 583 F.2d 1315, 1320 (5th Cir. Nov. 1978), vacated
and remanded, 48 U.S.L.W. 4063 (U.S. Jan. 8, 1980). See note 32, supra.

64. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 539 (5th Cir.
Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979). See notes 53-55 supra, and accom-
panying text.

65. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
66. 597 F.2d 958, 981 (5th Cir. June 1979). Only the issue of standing will be discussed

despite the lengthy and complex facts giving rise to this cause of action described by the court
as "not a typical antitrust case," "not even an atypical antitrust case," but rather, "not an
antitrust case at all." Id. at 959.

67. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976). Section 4 provides in part that "[a]ny person who shall be

injured in his business or property by reason of anything forbidden in the antitrust laws may
sue therefor in any district court . . . and shall recover threefold the damages by him sus-
tained, and the cost of suit, including a reasonable attorney's fee." Id.

68. Yoder Bros. v. California-Fla. Plant Corp., 537 F.2d 1347, 1359 (5th Cir. 1976), cert.
denied, 429 U.S. 1094 (1977), and Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129, 1131 (5th Cir.
1975).
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gered by a breakdown of competitive conditions in a particular in-
dustry.""

The Fifth Circuit found that the target area test was satisfied
in Hayes,70 a private antitrust action alleging a conspiracy by
defendant-theatre lessee and competing theatres against plaintiff-
lessor. Plaintiff, Park Plaza Twin Theatres, Inc., complained that
competition by its theatres was effectively eliminated by an increase
in the number of screens in competing theatres and a routing of
better films to those theatres.7 Defendants urged that plaintiff
lacked standing to seek antitrust damages because it was not within
the competitive sector of the economy endangered by the alleged
competitive restraint." Distinguishing Calderone Enterprises Corp.
v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc. ,3 the court indicated that
although Hayes and Calderone were factually similar, defendant's
reliance upon Calderone was misplaced because Calderone's claim
was premised upon injury derived from a member of a conspiracy
whose illegal activity was not aimed at it. Accordingly, Calderone
was not a "target" of the illegal conduct." The Fifth Circuit noted
the limited holding of the Calderone court that the non-operating
lessor would have had standing if the conspiracy had consisted of
an agreement to distribute and exhibit pictures among flat-lease
operators, excluding distribution to percentage lease operators.7 5

The Fifth Circuit, therefore, concluded that plaintiff-lessor,
having alleged that it was the "bull's-eye of the target"7 as a poten-
tial competitor, had standing to bring a private antitrust action
under section 4 of the Clayton Act." The Fifth Circuit's holding in
Hayes that allegations of direct injury to the lessor's leasehold and
reversionary interests78 are within the "target area," rather than

69. Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129, 1131 (5th Cir. 1975).
70. Hayes v. Solomon, 597 F.2d 958, 981-82 (5th Cir. June 1979).
71. Id. at 971-72.
72. Id. at 981. Plaintiff was the lessor of the theatre and was not directly engaged in

the business of film exhibition.
73. 454 F.2d 1292, 1296 (2d Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 406 U.S. 930 (1972).
74. Hayes v. Solomon, 597 F.2d 958, 981 (5th Cir. June 1979). See Calderone Enter-

prises Corp. v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 454 F.2d 1292, 1296-97 (2d Cir. 1971),
cert. denied, 406 U.S. 930 (1972).

75. Hayes v. Solomon, 597 F.2d 958, 981 (5th Cir. June 1979), citing Calderone Enter-
prises Corp. v. United Artists Theatre Circuit, Inc., 454 F.2d 1292, 1296 n.3 (2d Cir. 1971),
cert. denied, 406 U.S. 930 (1972).

76. Hayes v. Solomon, 597 F.2d 958, 981 (5th Cir. June 1979).
77. Id. See 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976) and note 67 supra.
78. Hayes v. Solomon, 597 F.2d 958, 981 (5th Cir. June 1979).
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being derivative injuries from an incidental relationship with one
who is a target of the conspiracy," appears to be an expansive inter-
pretation of the "target area" test in the context of plaintiff-
lessors. 0

By affirming and adopting the memorandum opinion and order
of the district court in Larry R. George Sales Co. v. Cool Attic
Corp.,8 the Fifth Circuit adhered to the principle that application
of the "target area" test should not be expanded to include injuries
resulting from mere "ripple effects" of antitrust violations. 2 In Cool
Attic, plaintiff's injury resulted from an alleged conspiracy and
combination in violation of the Robinson-Patman Act. 83 Pursuant to
a manufacturer's representative agreement, plaintiff was to be paid
commissions on all sales to a particular client that it secured for
defendants, manufacturers and distributors of motorized attic
fans.84 Subsequent diversions of commissions to a thrid party were
alleged to constitute violations of the Robinson-Patman Act.5 The
district court, however, found merit in defendant's contention that
plaintiff did not have standing because the alleged anti-competitive
activity was directed against the attic fan and ventilator industry,86

noting that "only if plaintiff was in the same business and in compe-

79. Id.
80. Contra, Field Prod., Inc. v. United Artists Corp., 318 F.Supp. 87 (S.D.N.Y. 1969),

aff'd per curiam, 432 F.2d 1010 (2d Cir. 1970), cert. denied, 401 U.S. 949 (1971); Melrose
Realty Co., Inc. v. Loew's, Inc., 234 F.2d 518 (3d Cir.), cert. denied, 352 U.S. 890 (1956);
Harrison v. Paramount Pictures, Inc., 115 F. Supp. 312 (E.D. Pa. 1953), aff'd, 211 F.2d 405
(3d Cir.), cert. denied, 348 U.S. 828 (1954). Accord, Sandidge v. Rogers, 256 F.2d 269 (7th
Cir. 1958); Congress Bldg. Corp. v. Loew's Inc., 246 F.2d 587 (7th Cir. 1957); Steiner v. 20th
Century-Fox Film Corp., 232 F.2d 190 (9th Cir. 1956). See also: Annot., 27 A.L.R. FED. 866
(1976) and L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 247 at 770-74.

81. 587 F.2d 266 (5th Cir. Jan. 1979).
82. Id. at 272.
83. 15 U.S.C. § 13 (1976).
84. Larry R. George Sales Co. v. Cool Attic Corp., 587 F.2d 266, 269-70 (5th Cir. Jan.

1979).
85. 15 U.S.C. § 13(c)(1976) which provides that:
It shall be unlawful for any person engaged in commerce, in the course of such
commerce, to pay or grant, or to receive or accept, anything of value as a commis-
sion, brokerage, or other compensation, or any allowance or discount in lieu thereof,
except for services rendered in connection with the sale or purchase of goods, wares,
or merchandise, either to the other party of such transaction or to an agent, repre-
sentative, or other intermediary therein where such intermediary is acting in fact
for or in behalf, or is subject to the direct or indirect control, of any party to such
transaction other than the person by whom such compensation is so granted or
paid.

Id.
86. Larry R. George Sales Co. v. Cool Attic Corp., 587 F.2d 266, 272 (5th Cir. Jan. 1979).
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tition with ... Defendants would he have standing. . . .""s Plain-
tiffs cause of action failed because of the non-competitive nature
of the loss and the fact that the loss did not fall within "that sector
of the economy which is endangered by a breakdown of competitive
conditions in a particular industry."

B. Jurisdiction and Standing-Extraterritorial

The prohibitions of the Sherman Act are not confined to activi-
ties occurring within the territorial limits of the United States.81 The
Sherman Act may be invoked whenever any contracts, combina-
tions or agreements are "in" or "affect" competition in interstate
or foreign commerce,'0 including exports and imports." Yet, certain
restraints are exercised when dealing with conduct that in some way
involves the participation of a foreign government. It is within the
context of an alleged violation of the federal antitrust laws when one
of the participants is a foreign sovereignty that the act of state
doctrine has been invoked. 2

In Industrial Investment Development Corp. v. Mitsui & Co.,' 3

the Fifth Circuit reviewed the district court's refusal to adjudicate
plaintiff's federal antitrust claims under the act of state doctrine.
In reversing and remanding,' the Fifth Circuit found that the act
of state doctrine did not preclude adjudication of plaintiff's com-
plaint 5 and that the doctrine need not be applied because there
were no political factors that outweighed the interest in regulating
anticompetitive activities abroad."

87. Id.
88. Id. at 271-72, citing Jeffrey v. Southwestern Bell, 518 F.2d 1129 (5th Cir. 1975).
89. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 234 at 714-15.
90. Id. at 714.
91. Id. See Wilson Tariff Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 8-11 (1976); Zenith Radio Corp. v. Hazeltine

Research, Inc., 401 U.S. 321 (1971); Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Corp.,
370 U.S. 690 (1962).

92. Note, Sherman Act Jurisdiction and the Acts of Foreign Sovereigns, 77 COLUM. L.
REv. 1247, 1255 (1977). The classic rationale for the act of state doctrine is as follows: "Every
sovereign State is bound to respect the independence of every other sovereign State, and the
courts of one country will not sit in judgment on the acts of the government of another done
within its own territory. Redress of grievances. . . must be obtained through the means open
to be availed of by sovereign powers as between themselves." Underhill v. Hernandez, 168
U.S. 250, 252 (1897).

93. 594 F.2d 48 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
94. Id. at 55-56.
95. Id. at 49.
96. Id. at 53. Originally, the reasoning articulated in early cases which applied the act

of state doctrine centered on sovereignty and independence among nations. See Oetjen v.
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In Industrial Investment Development Corp.,97 the plaintiff
sought to enter the lumbering business in Borneo, Indonesia. As
required by Indonesian law, plaintiff associated with a local com-
pany, entered into a business agreement to engage in lumbering
activities, and made application for a government granted conces-
sion and cutting license authorizing forestry activities. Plaintiff
had associated with the local Indonesian company in order to form
a new independent liability company, as required by the Indonesian
law, in order to acquire the license and conduct local business."9

Plaintiffs Sherman Act allegations ® of a conspiracy in restraint of
competition explicitly detailed a plot, envisioned and implemented
by defendants, to eliminate plaintiff from the Indonesian lumber
market via a take-over of the affiliated Indonesian company. Plain-
tiff contended that due to defendant's anticompetitive actions, the
required forestry agreement was cancelled, resulting in a denial of
the required forestry concession and license.' 0' Defendant countered
that the failure of the Indonesian Department of Forestry to issue
plaintiff a timber license was the source of plaintiff's injuries, 02 and
that adjudication of plaintiff's claims would necessitate an inquiry
into the validity of and motivation for the agreement cancellation
by the government which spawned the denial of the license.'0
Therefore, defendant argued, the act of state doctrine precluded
adjudication of plaintiffs federal antitrust claims. 0

Distinguishing cases which necessitate a balancing of executive
and judicial concerns due to the potential of interference with for-

Central Leather Co., 246 U.S. 297 (1918); American Banana Co. v. United Fruit Co., 213 U.S.
347 (1909); Underhill v. Hernandez, 168 U.S. 250 (1897).

Subsequent applications of the act of state doctrine have emphasized that the basis of
the doctrine is separation of powers. See Alfred Dunhill of London v. Republic of Cuba, 425
U.S. 682 (1976); Banco Nacional de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398 (1964); Occidental of
Umm al Qaywayn, Inc. v. A Certain Cargo of Petroleum, 577 F.2d 1196 (5th Cir. Aug. 1978),
cert. denied, 99 S. Ct. 2857 (1979).

97. 594 F.2d at 49.
98. Id. In order to receive governmental approval to engage in business in Indonesia, a

foreign company was required to join with a local company, forming a new independent
limited liability company under Indonesian law. Additionally, plaintiff's new company was
required to secure a forestry harvesting license from the Indonesian Department of Forestry.

99. Id. at 50.
100. Id. at 49. Plaintiff alleged violations of sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act and

section 73 of the Wilson Tariff Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2 (1976) and 15 U.S.C. § 8 (1976).
101. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 51 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
102. Id. at 54.
103. Id.
104. Id. at 49.
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eign relations,0 5 the Fifth Circuit concluded that Industrial Invest-
ment Development Corp. 00 did not mandate application of the act
of state doctrine. It was not necessary for the court to rule upon the
validity of Indonesian regulations nor the legality of the conduct of
the Indonesian government. 107 The court severed the liability and
damage issues, stating that the liability of the defendants hinged
upon the act of conspiracy,10 irrespective of whether or not the
timber cutting license had been or would have been issued by the
Indonesian government.'"1 It was the conspiracy that damaged
plaintiff's contract and concession rights and which impaired plain-
tiffs ability to compete in the market,10 not the probability of the
issuance of the license.

The Fifth Circuit also rejected defendant's contention that
proof of damages would necessitate an inquiry into the motivation
and, therefore, the validity of the action of a foreign state-an in-
quiry foreclosed under the act of state doctrine."' The court refused
to apply the "but for" test endorsed in Hunt v. Mobil Oil Corp.,"2

105. Adhering to the doctrine of separation of powers, the following cases have applied
the act of state doctrine, precluding adjudication, because the issues necessitated inquiring
into the validity of title to property or the capacity of a foreign state to expropriate the
property of aliens. See Banco Nacional de Cuba v. Sabbatino, 376 U.S. 398 (1964); Occidental
of Umm al Qaywayn, Inc. v. A Certain Cargo of Petroleum, 577 F.2d 1196 (5th Cir. Aug. 1978),
cert. denied, 99 S. Ct. 2857 (1979); Hunt v. Mobil Oil Corp., 550 F.2d 68 (2d Cir.), cert.
denied, 434 U.S. 984 (1977); and Occidental Petroleum Corp. v. Buttes Gas & Oil Co., 331
F. Supp. 92 (C.D. Cal. 1971), aff'd, 461 F.2d 1261 (9th Cir. 1972).

106. 594 F.2d 48 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
107. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 49 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).

The Indonesian government was not an alleged co-conspirator.
108. Id. at 54, citing Story Parchment Co. v. Paterson Parchment Paper Co., 282 U.S.

555 (1931); H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester, Co., 577 F.2d 239 (5th Cir. July
1978); and Heatransfer Corp. v. Volkswagenwerk, A.G., 553 F.2d 964 (5th Cir. 1977), cert.
denied, 434 U.S. 1087 (1978).

109. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 54 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
The question of whether the Indonesian government would have issued the timber cutting
license was relevant "only to the value of the destroyed joint venture, not to liability for its
destruction." Id.

110. Id.
111. Id. at 54-55. See note 112 infra.
112. 550 F.2d 68, 78 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 984 (1977). The Hunt opinion

indicates that an inquiry into the motivation of actions taken by a foreign state is necessary
since the "antitrust plaintiff must show that but for the conspiracy the foreign government
would not have acted as it did." Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 55
(5th Cir. Apr. 1979). Furthermore, if motivation for an action must be examined, an analysis
of the validity of that action is required. The court stated that "[Wihile the skilled pleader
here has meticulously attempted to avoid the issue of validity, its claim is admittedly not
viable unless the judicial branch examines the motivation of the Libyan action and that
inevitably involves its validity." 550 F.2d at 77.
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indicating that, although some causal relationship was required be-
tween the injuries suffered and the anticompetitive conduct,"3 blan-
ket application of the Hunt "but for" requirement"' would encour-
age "use of the act of state doctrine as a shield by private conspira-
tors who are able to include some foreign governmental act in their
anticompetitive scheme.""' Furthermore, the court indicated that
as opposed to the impression left by the broad language of the Hunt
decision,"' motivation and validity of an act by a foreign state are
not automatically shielded from inquiry by the act of state doc-
trine, 11 especially when raised in the context of measuring plain-
tiff's damage." 8

C. Exemptions from Federal Antitrust Laws

The state action exemption arises in the context of the struggle
between anticompetitive state regulation and federal antitrust laws
that seek to reduce anticompetitive practices. In Parker v. Brown, "I
the Supreme Court held that the federal antitrust laws were not
intended to apply to state action. 20 The gradual extension of the
state action exemption of Parker was limited in Cantor v. Detroit
Edison Co.,' 2 which held that the state action exemption of Parker
v. Brown' did not apply to state sanctioned activities in unregu-
lated markets.2 3

During the survey period, a claim for a state action exemption
was advanced in Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v.
Mohammad.' 4 Defendant, Executive Director of the Florida Board

113. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 55 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979),
citing Radiant Burners, Inc. v. Peoples Gas Light & Coke Co., 364 U.S. 656 (1961).

114. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 55 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
The Fifth Circuit interpreted the "but for" test as requiring proof by a plaintiff that the
actions of a defendant were the sole cause of the injury. Id. at 55.

115. Id.
116. Id. at 55, citing Hunt v. Mobil Oil Corp., 550 F.2d 68 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 434

U.S. 984 (1977).
117. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 55 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979),

citing Continental Ore Co. v. Union Carbide & Carbon Corp., 370 U.S. 690 (1962) and
Timberlane Lumber Co. v. Bank of America, 549 F.2d 597 (9th Cir. 1976).

118. Industrial Inv. Dev. Corp. v. Mitsui & Co., 594 F.2d 48, 55 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
Note the court's distinction between fact of injury and amount of damage. Id. at 55.

119. 317 U.S. 341 (1943).
120. Id. at 368.
121. 428 U.S. 579 (1976).
122. 317 U.S. 341 (1943).
123. Cantor v. Detroit Edison Co., 428 U.S. 579, 590-98 (1976).
124. 586 F.2d 530 (5th Cir. Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).
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of Medical Examiners, claimed immunity from plaintiffs antitrust
allegation that, pursuant to a conspiracy to monopolize the market
in health and abortion services, defendant had used his official posi-
tion and prestige to coerce physicians into terminating their services
and business relations with plaintiff's health center. 25 The Fifth
Circuit held that summary judgment for the defendant on the basis
of the state action exemption was improper.'12 Noting that defen-
dant would be immune from the federal antitrust allegations "to the
extent that his conduct was within the scope of authority granted
. . . by the Florida legislature,""' the court turned to an analysis
of the authority-conferring statute2 8 and found that defendant's
action was not immune under any express statutory provision12' and
was not protected as an "administrative warning letter."'' ' Thus,
summary judgment was held improper because conceivable theories
existed upon which the defendant would not be entitled to state
action immunity.'3 ' The analysis employed by the Fifth Circuit in
Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad'32 indicates
that exemptions premised upon state action allegations will be scru-
tinized according to the standards announced by the Supreme
Court in Cantor v. Detroit Edison Co., 113necessitating factual deter-
minations of whether actions taken by governmental entities are
within the powers granted to that entity by the legislature.' 3

125. Id. at 550.
126. Id. at 551.
127. Id. at 550, following City of Lafayette v. Louisiana Power and Light Co., 532 F.2d

431 (5th Cir. 1976), aff'd, 435 U.S. 389 (1978).
128. Florida Medical Practice Act, FLA. STAT. ANN. §§ 458.11, .1201 (1), .1201 (3)(a)

(West 1965).
129. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 550 (5th Cir.

Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979). Note, however, that the court's
inference that immunity under the state action exemption could be found even in the absence
of express statutory authorization of a specific action. Id. at 551 n.18, citing Duke & Co. v.
Foerster, 521 F.2d 1277 (3d Cir. 1975). See also City of Lafayette v. Louisiana Power and Light
Co., 532 F.2d 431 (5th Cir. 1976), aff'd, 435 U.S. 389, 415 (1978), in which the Supreme Court
stated that "[tihis does not mean, however, that a political subdivision necessarily must be
able to point to a specific, detailed legislative authorization before it properly may assert a
Parker defense to an antitrust suit." Id. at 415.

130. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 551 n.18 (5th
Cir. Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).

131. Id. at 551. A factual dispute involving questions of intent and motive existed with
regard to the characterization of defendant's conduct.

132. 586 F.2d 530 (5th Cir. Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).
133. 428 U.S. 579, 600-01 (1976). See also Bates v. State Bar of Ariz., 433 U.S. 350, 362

(1977).
134. Cantor v. Detroit Edison Co., 428 U.S. 579, 595-98 (1976).
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In order to protect the right of private parties to petition, the
government, the Supreme Court in Eastern Railroads Presidents
Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight'35 held that concerted actions
aimed at influencing the government or its officials to take anticom-
petitive action did not violate the Sherman Act and could not form
the basis of antitrust liability. Subsequent decisions held that the
exemption from antitrust liability established in Noerr13 also ex-
tended to attempts to influence executive action' 37 and the actions
of adjudicative governmental bodies. 3 Thus, the Noerr-Pennington
doctrine became the scriptic reference for the antitrust law exemp-
tion arising from attempts to influence the government.

In Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 39 the
Fifth Circui-t was confronted with determining the scope of the
Noerr-Pennington doctrine. Defendant-physicians, charged with
alleged anticompetitive conduct, sought immunity under the Noerr-
Pennington doctrine for the following activities: (1) a letter of com-
plaint written by the defendants and sent to the Board of Medical
Examiners concerning potential violations of the Florida Medical
Practice Act; 40 (2) a letter to the head of the residency program at
a nearby hospital regarding operations performed by residents at
the plaintiff's abortion clinic;' (3) the communications concerning
and adoption of a resolution to provide financial support to defen-
dants in the adjudication of the case;' and (4) discussions among
the defendants about the medical practice of physicians on the hos-
pital staffs.4 3 Vacating the summary judgment for the defendants,
the Fifth Circuit held that the Noerr-Pennington doctrine did not
extend to any of the communications except the letter to the Board
of Medical Examiners and the resolution to provide support to the
physician's defense of the lawsuit.' The court rejected the argu-
ment that state statutes regulating the practice of medicine con-
ferred upon medical review organizations the status of public regu-

135. 365 U.S. 127 (1961). The action taken was an effort by the defendants to influence
the passage or enforcement of laws. Id. at 129.

136. Id.
137. United Mine Workers v. Pennington, 381 U.S. 657 (1965).
138. California Motor Transp. Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508 (1972).
139. 586 F.2d 530 (5th Cir. Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979).
140. Id. at 537. The letter stated that certain physicians were performing surgery at

plaintiff's abortion clinic without adequate provision for continuing aftercare.
141. Id. at 542.
142. Id.
143. Id.
144. Id.
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latory bodies.4 5 The court noted that, although the role of hospital
staffs and medical societies was important in the regulatory scheme
of the medical profession, the statutory language indicated a per-
missive authorization, not a mandate, to the Board of Medical Ex-
aminers to pursue a certain course of action when requested. 4 ' The
role of hospital staffs and medical societies was not a governmental
function because the ultimate decision of whether alleged violations
should be acted upon was left to the discretion of the Board. 4 '

The court determined that triable issues existed regarding
whether the letter was "genuinely intended to influence" the Board
to take official action, thereby meriting immunity under the Noerr-
Pennington doctrine, or whether the action was "a mere sham to
cover what is actually nothing more than an attempt to interfere
directly with the business relationships of a competitor. ... 8
The state action exemption claimed for the resolution to support the
physician's defense to the lawsuit did not raise a genuine issue re-
garding the intent behind adopting the resolution, and, therefore,
was not subject to challenge. 4 '

III. SHERMAN ACT SECTION 1 -RESTRAINT OF TRADE

A. Rule of Reason versus Per Se Analysis

Nearly every contract restrains trade to the extent that some
parties are included while others are excluded. Unfortunately, the
broad language of the Sherman Act' 0 affords little guidance in de-
termining when an activity restrains trade sufficiently to violate the
Act.15' Rejecting an analysis that entailed a literal interpretation of
the statutory language, a "rule of reason" analysis was adopted by

145. Id. at ,3-45.
146. Id. at 545.
147. Id. The court noted that "[ajlthough the actions of such groups in reporting

disciplinary findings and suspected violations ...may be petitioning activity within the
meaning of the first amendment, communications within those groups are not." Id. at 545.

148. Id. at 542, citing Eastern R.R. Presidents Conference v. Noerr Motor Freight, Inc.,
365 U.S. 127, 144 (1961). The court rejected a blanket requirement of the high burden of proof
of sham conduct suggested by the Supreme Court's opinion in Otter Tail Co. v. United States.
Although a pattern of baseless claims is evidence of sham petitioning, evidence of that type
is not essential to proof of sham. 586 F.2d at 543 n.6, citing Otter Tail Co. v. United States,
410 U.S. 366 (1973).

149. Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 543 (5th Cir.
Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979), citing California Motor Transp.
Co. v. Trucking Unlimited, 404 U.S. 508 (1972).

150. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1-7 (1976). See note 6, supra.
151. L. SULUVAN, supra note 1, § 63, at 165.

[Vol. 11:263
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the Supreme Court in Standard Oil Co. v. United States."52 The
focal point for anaylsis is a determination of whether or not the
alleged activities place "undue limitations on competitive condi-
tions. '

1
1
1
3 Any undue or unreasonable restraint of trade is subject to

the prohibitions of section 1 of the Sherman Act. Conversely, activi-
ties that have only incidental and inconsequential restraining ef-
fects are permissible." 4

Just as Standard Oil firmly established the "rule of reason,"
the Supreme Court decision in United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil
Co. "5 established a "per se" approach. The per se rule has been
applied to certain agreements or practices because of their
"pernicious effects on competition and lack of any redeeming vir-
tue. . .. "I" The consequences attendant to classifying an activity
"per se" were stated by Justice Black in United States v. Northern
Pacific Railway:'"

[T]here are certain agreements or practices which . . . are con-
clusively presumed to be unreasonable and therefore illegal with-
out elaborate inquiry as to the precise harm they have caused or
the business excuse for their use. This principle of per se unreason-
ableness . . . avoids the necessity for an incredibly complicated
and prolonged economic investigation into the entire history of the
industry involved, as well as related industries, in an effort to
determine at large whether a particular restraint has been unrea-
sonable-an inquiry so often fruitless when undertaken. 5

The development of two analytical approaches in resolving an-
titrust issues has resulted in attempts to classify activities so that
they may be examined under either the "rule of reason" approach
or the "per se" approach. Due to the complexity of factual situations
that giye rise to alleged antitrust violations, however, categorization
has-been fraught with difficulty.'59 During the survey period, the

152. 221 U.S. 1 (1911).
153. Id. at 58.
154. L. SULUVAN, supra note 1, § 63, at 166.
155. 310 U.S. 150 (1940) (price-fixing). The court employed the phrase "per se" for the

first time when it stated that "[u]nder the Sherman Act a combination formed for the
purpose and with the effect of raising, depressing, fixing, pegging, or stabilizing the price of
a commodity in interstate or foreign commerce is illegal per se." Id. at 223.

156. United States v. Northern Pac. Ry., 356 U.S. 1, 5 (1958).
157. 356 U.S. 1 (1958).
158. Id. at 5.
159. See Dougherty v. Continental Oil Co., 579 F.2d 954 (5th Cir. Sept. 1978), vacated

and appeal dismissed per stipulation, 591 F.2d 1206 (5th Cir. Mar. 1979). The Fifth Circuit

1980] 279
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Fifth Circuit was confronted with determining which rule should be
applied in three substantive areas of antitrust law: (1) the concept
of contract, combination, or conspiracy; (2) price fixing in the form
of consignment agreements; and (3) tying arrangements.10

B. Concept of Contract, Combination, or Conspiracy

Section 1 of the Sherman Act proscribes "[e]very contract,
combination . . . or conspiracy, in restraint of trade."'' Therefore,
by definition, the concerted action by two or more separate partici-
pants is required. In H & B Equipment Co. v. International Har-
vester Co., 162 the plaintiff, a distributor, alleged that the defendant
manufacturer had violated section 1 of the Sherman Act by conspir-
ing to eliminate it from the market through the use of customer
restrictions and unfair competition.6 3 The Fifth Circuit, however,
noted that a plaintiff must meet the threshold requirement of iden-
tifying defendant's coconspirator.6 4 Plaintiff attempted to identify
a coconspirator within defendant's corporate structure, referring to
(1) the wholly-owned, unincorporated company store, (2) the man-
ager of the company store, and (3) a wholly-owned, separately incor-
porated subsidiary of the defendant.6 5

The Fifth Circuit rejected the theory that the wholly-owned,
unincorporated company store could have conspired with the defen-

reversed and remanded because of jury interrogatories based on the abandoned per se test of
United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U.S. 365 (1967). In Dougherty, the court indi-
cated that the relationship between the defendants had both vertical and horizontal restraint
elements. Refusing to "pigeonhole" the restraint, the court indicated that the transaction was
capable of the following classifications: (1) a vertical unilateral refusal to deal-rule of reason
analysis; (2) a refusal to deal to further anticompetitive motives-per se treatment; (3) right
to establish and terminate exclusive dealerships or franchises-rule of reason; (4) vertical
group boycott-per se treatment; (5) transaction having legitimate business purposes and
imposing only incidental harm on competitors-rule of reason; (6) vertical territorial alloca-
tion-rule of reason; (7) horizontal market division-per se analysis; (8) horizontal refusal to
deal-per se; (9) horizontal group boycott-per se illegal; or (10) legitimate business agree-
ment among horizontal competitors, lacking anticompetitive purpose-rule of reason analy-
sis. 579 F.2d at 958-59.

160. Rule of reason versus per se analysis in the context of tying arrangements was
presented in Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978) cert. denied,
48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979). The case presented alleged violations of section 1 of the
Sherman Act and section 3 of the Clayton Act, both applicable to alleged tying arrangements.
See notes 279-86, infra and accompanying text for a discussion of this case under the Clayton
Act.

161. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976). See note 6, supra.
162. 577 F.2d 239 (5th Cir. July 1978).
163. Id. at 241-42.
164. Id. at 243.
165. Id. at 243-245.
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dant, reasoning that the business structure was a method of dividing
labor within the organization and that the company store losses
were absorbed by the defendant. "' In essence, the business structure
consisted of only one entity, thereby precluding a finding of a con-
spiracy. ' Although the manager of the company store could con-
ceivably have held the status of a coconspirator, the court found
that, because the store and defendant were not legally distinct or-
ganizations,"18 the facts precluded application of the "independent
personal stake" exception"' to the general rule that a corporation
cannot conspire with its own employees.7 0 The Fifth Circuit also
considered whether the wholly-owned, separately incorporated sub-
sidiary of the defendant was a coconspirator.1' Because the subsidi-
ary was separately incorporated, the "internal corporate division
doctrine" did not apply, resulting in the subsidiary being a distinct
entity for purposes of antitrust law analysis."' The court noted that
although the subsidiary was alleged to have conspired with the par-
ent corporation rather than another subsidiary,' a finding that a
conspiracy had existed would still be possible"' provided that the
evidence indicated that the subsidiary and parent-defendant had a
"meeting of minds in an unlawful arrangement,""' and that each

166. Id. at 244.
167. Id. The court indicated that within the Fifth Circuit, the inability of a corporation

to conspire with its wholly-owned, unincorporated sales division was a well established princi-
ple. See Cliff Food Stores, Inc. v. Kroger Inc., 417 F.2d 203 (5th Cir. 1969).

168. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 244 (5th Cir. July
1978). The court stated that "[w]ithout such an organization legally distinct from the princi-
pal defendant, it would be impossible for an employee to have an interest that was truly
'independent."' Id.

169. Id. citing Poller v. Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc., 368 U.S. 464 (1962);
Coleman Motor Co. v. Chrysler Corp., 525 F.2d 1338 (3d Cir. 1975); Greenville Publishing
Co. v. Daily Reflector, Inc., 496 F.2d 391 (4th Cir. 1974), Johnston v. Baker, 445 F.2d 424
(3d Cir. 1971).

170. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 244 (5th Cir. July
1978), relying on Solomon v. Houston Corrugated Box Co., 526 F.2d 389 (5th Cir. 1976) and
Nelson Radio & Supply Co. v. Motorola Inc., 200 F.2d 911 (5th Cir. 1952), cert. denied, 345
U.S. 925 (1953).

171. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 244-45 (5th Cir.
July 1978).

172. Id.
173. Id. at 244. A conspiracy may be established between two corporations which are

both subsidiaries of the same parent. Kiefer-Stewart Co. v. Joseph E. Seagram & Sons, Inc.,
340 U.S. 211, 215 (1951).

174. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245 (5th Cir. July
1978), citing Battle v. Liberty Nat. Life Ins. Co., 493 F.2d 39, 44 (5th Cir. 1974), cert. denied,
419 U.S. 1110 (1975).

175. American Tobacco Co. v. United States, 328 U.S. 781, 810 (1946).
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participant in the conspiracy knew the "essential nature and gen-
eral scope" of the conspiracy.'

The court concluded, however, that the evidence was insuffi-
cient to establish a conspiracy.'77 Further, the court noted that, even
if a conspiracy had been established, plaintiffs evidence was proba-
bly insufficient to establish a jury case under the rule of reason since
the anticompetitive effect of the alleged conspiracy was de mini-
mus. '7 The Fifth Circuit relied upon the principle stated in Burdett
Sound that "it is simply not an antitrust violation for a manufac-
turer to contract with a new distributor, and as a consequence, to
terminate his relationship with a former distributor, even if the
effect of the new contract is to seriously damage the former distribu-
tor's business. ' ' 79

Termination of a distributorship pursuant to an alleged con-
spiracy between a manufacturer and its distributors is viewed as a
vertical restraint of trade.1N Allegations of horizontal restraints,
which would invoke application of the per se rule, are sustainable
only when the source of the alleged conspiracy between a manufac-
turer and its distributors is a combination of the distributors.'8 '
Because the facts of H & B Equipment Co. indicated a vertical
restraint,'8 2 the "rule of reason" analysis was mandated by
Continental T. V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc. ' Plaintiff, therefore,
was required to prove an anticompetitive effect in intrabrand or
interbrand markets in order to establish an unreasonable restraint
of trade.' 8 The facts indicated that the dealer substitution would
have no adverse effect on competition'"5 and, at most, the effect

176. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245 (5th Cir. July
1978) quoting Hoffman-La Roche, Inc. v. Greenberg, 447 F.2d 872, 875 (7th Cir. 1971).

177. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 242 (5th Cir. July
1978). The court declined consideration of allegations of unfair competition since plaintiff's
proof of monopolization, conspiracy, or injury from customer restrictions was insufficient.

178. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245-46 (5th Cir.
July 1978).

179. Id., citing Burdett Sound, Inc. v. Altec Corp., 515 F.2d 1245, 1249 (5th Cir. 1975).
180. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245 (5th Cir. July

1978).
181. Id., citing United States v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co., 388 U.S. 365, 372-73 (1967).
182. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245-46 (5th Cir.

July 1978).
183. 433 U.S. 36 (1977). (per se approach to vertical restraints of trade abandoned,

applying instead, the rule of reason)
184. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 246 (5th Cir. July

1978).
185. Id.
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would be de minimus'81 -intrabrand rivalry was intense, interbrand
competition was healthy, all dealers were subject to competitive
forces, and each dealer possessed independence from the defendant
and could raise prices without adversely affecting sales volume.'17

The court's analysis of anticompetitive effect, which required
plaintiff to establish an allegation of an unreasonable vertical re-
straint of trade, conformed with the approach taken by the Fifth
Circuit in Kestenbaum v. Falstaff Brewing Corp. ,s Because the
critical issue under the "rule of reason" test in vertical restraint of
trade cases is whether the restraint "tends to or is reasonably calcu-
lated to prejudice the public interest," 8 plaintiff must demonstrate
"an anticompetitive effect [on the market] which is not offset by
a need to achieve procompetitive benefit or justification.'"10 Ade-
quate demonstration of anticompetitive effect may be established
by (1) "increased concentration, as shown by a change in relative
market shares,""' or (2) a "change in prices, output or quality which
evinces market power ... ."I" Taken together, however,
Kestenbaum"3 and H & B Equipment Co.' 4 indicate that market
impact, the crucial inquiry under the rule of reason, is inconsequen-
tially affected by most dealer terminations. 9 '

186. Id.
187. Id.
188. 575 F.2d 564, 570-71 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 909 (1979).
189. Id. at 570, quoting Schaffer v. Universal Rundle Corp., 397 F.2d 893, 897 (5th Cir.

1968).
190. Kestenbaum v. Falstaff Brewing Corp., 575 F.2d 564, 571 (5th Cir. 1978), cert.

denied, 440 U.S. 909 (1979). See also Daniels v. All Steel Equip., Inc., 590 F.2d 111 (5th Cir.
Feb. 1979), analogous to but weaker than dealer termination cases in which the court stated
that "mere intent to eliminate a distributor does not establish a cause of action for violation
of the antitrust laws." Id. at 113, citing H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co.,
577 F.2d ,239 (5th Cir. July 1978). The court indicated that a showing of adverse market
impact was required despite the fact that "the defendants may have engaged in questionable
business practices and a competitor was eliminated." 590 F.2d at 113.

191. 575 F.2d at 571.
192. Id.
193. 575 F.2d 564 (5th Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 440 U.S. 909 (1979). Accord, Daniels v.

All Steel Equip., Inc., 590 F.2d 111 (5th Cir. Feb. 1979); Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v.
Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83 (5th Cir. July 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979);
Burdett Sound, Inc. v. Altec Corp., 515 F.2d 1245 (5th Cir. 1975).

194. 577 F.2d 239 (5th Cir. July 1978). See note 193 supra, for cases in accord.
195. See H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 246 (5th Cir.

July 1978), in which the court states that "[a]bsent anticompetitive effect, an unlawful
intent will not establish a rule of reason violation .. , nor will the use of unfair methods of
competition." Id., citing Chicago Bd. of Trade v. United States, 246 U.S. 231, 238 (1918) and
Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v. Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83, 89-90 (5th Cir. July 1978),
cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).
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In Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. v. Trane Co.,' 6 the
Fifth Circuit considered antitrust allegations of a conspiracy in vio-
lation of section 1 of the Sherman Act in reviewing the sufficiency
of evidence presented in opposition to defendant's motion for a di-
rected verdict. The plaintiffs, three independent dealer-franchisees,
sought relief under section 5 of the Clayton Act' for an alleged
conspiracy to terminate their businesses. The conspiracy was en-
tered into by defendant, a manufacturer of air conditioners, a sales
agent, and a wholly-owned subsidiary, in retaliation for plaintiffs
refusal to fix prices, divide the market geographically, and to limit
competition.' 8 The Fifth Circuit affirmed the directed verdict for
the defendants, as no evidence demonstrated a conspiracy in re-
straint of trade, and defendant's actions were motivated by legiti-
mate business necessity.'" Noting that proof of an express agree-
ment is not necessary to establish a conspiracy ' and that circum-
stantial evidence may be sufficient,'20 ' the court held that the evi-
dence in Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. consisted "wholly of
a series of inferences. 2 02 Plaintiffs reliance upon Lehrman v. Gulf
Oil Corp.203 was of no avail because the evidentiary elements of
Lehrman were lacking.2 ' To establish liability under section 4 of the
Clayton Act,'20 plaintiff must establish (1) a conspiracy and (2) a
causal connection between the conspiracy and the business fail-

Accord, Kestenbaum v. Falstaff Brewing Corp., 575 F.2d 564, 571 (5th Cir. 1978), cert.
denied, 440 U.S. 909 (1979), in which the court stated that "[tlhe emphasis, however, under
the rule of reason is on market impact. Dealings between a manufacturer and its agents may
be arbitrary, unfair, or lacking in good business judgment, but, without more, they will not
violate the Act."

196. 592 F.2d 1373 (5th Cir. Apr. 1979).
197. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
198. Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. v. Trane Co., 592 F.2d 1373, 1375 (5th Cir.

Apr. 1979).
199. Id. at 1382.
200. Id. at 1383, citing United States v. General Motors Corp., 384 U.S. 127, 142-43

(1966) and Gainesville Utilities Dept. v. Florida Power & Light Co., 573 F.2d 292, 300 (5th
Cir. 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 966 (1978).

201. Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. v. Trane Co., 592 F.2d 1373, 1383 (5th Cir.
Apr. 1979), citing American Tobacco Co. v. United States, 328 U.S. 781, 809-10 (1946) and
H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 245 (5th Cir. July 1978).

202. Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. v. Trane Co., 592 F.2d 1373, 1384 (5th Cir.
Apr. 1979).

203. 464 F.2d 26 (5th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 1077 (1972).
204. Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. v. Trane Co., 592 F.2d 1373, 1385 (5th Cir.

Apr. 1979). The lacking elements were (1) direct testimony, (2) specificity of price sugges-
tions, (3) a consignment agreement, and (4) an absence of evidence to refute a causal relation
between the conspiracy and plaintiff's business failure.

205. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
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ure.2"0 Thus, a case grounded upon a series of inferences will not
sustain a finding of a Sherman Act section 1 conspiracy, especially
when the inferences are rebutted by evidence that the actions were
unilaterally taken in accord with sound business reasons. 07

In Northwest Power Products, Inc. v. Omark Industries, Inc.,20 8

a conspiracy was alleged in a dealer termination case in which plain-
tiff, a distributor of power-actuated tools and supplies, was substi-
tuted by the supplier defendant with a new distributor co-
defendant.2

01 Plaintiff sought treble damages pursuant to section 1
of the Sherman Act,2 10 contending that the substitution of the new
distributor was the result of a conspiracy to eliminate plaintiff from
the market.2t ' The alleged conspiracy arose when plaintiff refused
to surrender management of his distributorship to his sales man-
ager, who, upon being fired from plaintiff's employ, opened the new
distributorship which replaced plaintiff.2 1 2 Plaintiff asserted that
the purpose of the conspiracy was to eliminate a competitor by
unfair means, conduct held to violate section 1 of the Sherman Act
in Albert Pick-Barth Co. v. Mitchell Woodbury Corp.2 '1

Northwest Power Products, Inc., v. Omark Industries, Inc.211
squarely presented the issue of whether, within the Fifth Circuit, a
conspiracy evincing an intent to eliminate a competitor by unlawful
or unfair competition would be treated as a per se violation or would
be analyzed according to the rule of reason.215 In rejecting the per

206. Comfort Trane Air Conditioning Co. v. Trane Co., 592 F.2d 1373, 1384 (5th Cir.
Apr. 1979).

207. Id., citing Feminist Women's Health Center, Inc. v. Mohammad, 586 F.2d 530, 549
(5th Cir, Dec. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3290 (Oct. 30, 1979); Solomon v. Houston
Corrugated Box Co., 526 F.2d 389 (5th Cir. 1976); Scott Medical Supply Co. v. Bedsole
Surgical Supplies, Inc., 488 F.2d 934 (5th Cir. 1974).

208. 576 F.2d 83 (5th Cir. July 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).
209. Id. at 85.
210. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976).
211. Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v. Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83, 85 (5th Cir. July

1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979). The plaintiff had 20% share of the relevant market
distribution and servicing of power actuated tools and supplies in the Dallas-Fort Worth area.
Defendant, the new distributor, possessed an 11.5% share of the relevant market. Id. at 91.

212. Id. at 85-86. The types of unfair competition resulting from the alleged conspiracy
were as follows: (1) employee disloyalty, (2) misappropriation of a "trade secret" customer
list, and (3) trade disparagement. Id. at 86.

213. 57 F.2d 96 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 286 U.S. 552 (1932).
214. 576 F.2d 83 (5th Cir. July 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).
215. Id. at 87. Although the First Circuit did not characterize the conduct as per se

illegal in Albert Pick-Barth Co. v. Mitchell Woodbury Corp., 57 F.2d 96 (1st Cir.), cert.
denied, 286 U.S. 552 (1932), the conduct was categorized as a per se violation in Atlantic Heel
Co. v. Allied Heel Co., 284 F.2d 879 (1st Cir. 1960). Also applying a per se test, see Albert
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se rule of Pick-Barth,26 the Fifth Circuit held that a conspiracy to
eliminate a competitor by unfair means should be judged under "a
rule of reason to be applied on a case-by-case basis in situations
where competitive forces protected by the Sherman Act suffer some
palpable injury. 2 " The court indicated that the rationale support-
ing the Pick-Barth per se rule had been eroded2 18 and that the de-
marcation between legal and illegal conduct provided by the Pick-
Barth rule was vague and too dependent upon the individual facts
of each case to merit per se characterization. 219 Rather, in cases of
alleged unfair competition, the proper approach is to permit the
defendants "to argue that their competitive acts, fair or unfair, have
not produced an impermissible degree of market power, and that
their use of misappropriated business resources evinces an increase
in competition, not a reduction. ' 22 9 Turning to an analysis of the
case under the rule of reason, the Fifth Circuit indicated that anti-
competitive effect on the market must be demonstrated by an in-
quiry into the market power of the defendants 22 and whether the

Sauter Co. v. Richard S. Sauter Co., 368 F. Supp. 501, 512-14 (E.D. Pa. 1973). In a per se
analysis, plaintiff need not demonstrate anticompetitive conduct as required in an analysis
under the rule of reason.

216. 57 F.2d 96 (1st Cir.), cert. denied, 286 U.S. 552 (1932).
217. Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v. Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83, 90 (5th Cir. July

1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).
218. Id. at 87-90. The court noted (1) that the case applying the Pick-Barth rule as a

per se violation had not analyzed whether the conduct at issue was of the type so contrary to
the purposes of the Sherman Act that it mandated per se treatment, (2) that scholars criti-
cized the doctrine as requiring "line drawing" between legality and illegality which was
dependent upon a definition of "unfair means" which was too vague to provide guidance for
business planning, (3) that the complained conduct had not been cited as a recognized form
of unfair competition, (4) that there existed a conflict between the purposes of the antitrust
laws and unfair competition law, (5) that the limitation of the Pick-Barth rule to cases where
the defendant was a "significant existing competitor" failed to adequately confine the rule
to Sherman Act proportions, and (6) that the more recent cases had rejected the Pick-Barth
rule. Id.

For cases rejecting the application of the Pick-Barth per se rule to unfair competition
cases, see Redwing Carriers v. McKenzie Tank Lines, Inc., 443 F. Supp. 639 (N.D.Fla. 1977);
Stifel, Nicolaus & Co. v. Dain, Kalman & Quail, Inc., 430 F. Supp. 1234 (N.D.Iowa 1977);
Associated Radio Serv. Co. v. Page Airways, 414 F. Supp. 1088 (N.D.Tex. 1976); Mar Food
Corp. v. Doane, 405 F. Supp. 730 (N.D.Ill. 1975); Southland Reship, Inc. v. Flegel, 401 F.
Supp. 339 (N.D.Ga. 1975).

219. Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v. Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83, 90 (5th Cir. July
1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).

220. Id.
221. Id. at 90-91, citing and quoting Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 433

U.S. 36, 53 n.21 (1977) where it is stated that "[a]n antitrust policy divorced from market
considerations would lack any objective benchmarks."



ANTITRUST

alleged conduct would establish market dominance for the defen-
dants.

22

The Fifth Circuit held that plaintiff had failed to demonstrate
an anticompetitive effect because the facts indicated that (1) the
defendants lacked market power that would result in monopoly
power upon elimination of plaintiff as a competitor, (2) that exces-
sive profits were not earned by the defendants, (3) that competition
and rivalry were enhanced, not reduced, by defendant's conduct, (4)
that the market did not lack full service, and (5) that defendant's
ability to raise prices to offset overhead on low volume did not prove
unusual market power, but rather was only indicative of unusual
market power.223

P.D.Q., Inc. v. Nissan Motor Corp.224 presented the questions
of whether a cooperative advertising program was an attempt to
illegally fix prices in violation of section 1 of the Sherman Act, and
whether the conduct mandated per se treatment or analysis under
the rule of reason. Plaintiff brought a private, class-action antitrust
suit against defendant, a foreign manufacturer of automobiles, al-
leging that a nationwide conspiracy between defendant-
manufacturer and its franchised dealers eliminated dealer discount-
ing in the retail sale of the automobiles and resulted in price stabili-
zation at non-competitive levels.2 5 Pursuant to a revised marketing
program designed to promote a strong network of retail Datsun
dealers who would be capable of promoting sales and providing
follow-up service, defendant and its local dealers entered into a
franchise agreement whereby each dealer agreed to belong to an
advertising cooperative operated by defendant.22

1 Upon receipt of an

222. Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v. Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83, 90-91 (5th Cir.
July 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979). The court noted that this case involved inter-
brand as well as intrabrand competition and that an analysis "cannot stop without an inquiry
into the market power of the defendants." Id. at 90, citing and distinguishing Burdett Sound,
Inc. v. Altec Corp., 515 F.2d 1245 (5th Cir. 1975) and Cherokee Laboratories, Inc. v. Rotary
Drilling Services, Inc., 383 F.2d 97 (5th Cir. 1967), cert. denied, 390 U.S. 904 (1968).

223. Northwest Power Prod., Inc. v. Omark Indus., Inc., 576 F.2d 83, 91 (5th Cir. July
1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1116 (1979).

224. 577 F.2d 910 (5th Cir. Aug. 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1072 (1979).
225. Id. at 912-13.
226. Id. at 914. The pertinent part of the franchise contract provided that:
[A] cooperative advertising fund may be established by Seller. Such fund shall
consist of an amount charged Dealer by Seller for each vehicle sold to Dealer and a
like amount contributed by Seller. The amount charged to Dealer and contributed
by Seller shall be established by Seller . . . .All payments from such fund shall
be for expenditures for advertising or promotions approved by Seller. . . .Dealer
shall have no rights with regard to monies in such fund, except the right to have

1980]
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automobile, the dealer was charged an amount"7 included in the
price of the car which defendant allocated to the cooperative adver-
tising fund. 2 1 Subsequently, the dealer who advertised according to
the prescribed standards 29 was reimbursed by an amount equal to
his contribution plus a matching amount from defendant. 5 Plain-
tiff attacked the cooperative advertising program and its control of
dealer advertising as a conspiracy in restraint of trade that war-
ranted per se treatment.? 1

Classifying the conduct as a vertical agreement between a man-
ufacturer and its dealers, the Fifth Circuit noted that the rule of
reason analysis was mandated in vertical restraint cases by the
Supreme Court in Continental T. V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania.132 The
court held that in the absence of an agreement to fix prices, the
advertising plan was not unreasonable as a matter of law and, there-
fore, per se analysis was not appropriate?.33 The cooperative adver-
tising program did not restrict local dealers to the extent that their
only choices were advertisement at fixed prices, advertisements
without prices, or no advertising,23 because the dealers were free to
forego the benefits conferred by the cooperative advertising program
and advertise at any price they desired.2 35 The court also indicated
that requiring a local car dealer to contribute to the cost of advertis-
ing was not illegal per se; however, if a retailer was compelled to
follow a manufacturer's fixed price in actual sales and to contribute

them expended in accordance herewith.
Id.

227. Id. The charge to each dealer for each new automobile received ranged from $25.00
to $60.00.

228. Id. at 914-15. The defendant, Nissan-USA, had complete unilateral control as to
whether a dealer would be reimbursed for advertising. Id. at 915.

229. Id. The advertising standards included (1) advertising only new cars, (2) including
the manufacturer's recommended retail price or no price at all, and (3) refraining from
making any statement or implication in an advertisement that one dealer was in a better
position to sell than another dealer.

230. Id.
231. Id.
232. 433 U.S. 36 (1977). Although a per se analysis in vertical restraint cases was not

precluded by the court's holding, such a departure from the rule of reason would be justified
only upon a showing of economic impact which could not be adequately regulated under the
rule of reason.

233. P.D.Q., Inc. v. Nissan Motor Corp. (In re Nissan Antitrust Litigation), 577 F.2d
910, 916-17 (5th Cir. Aug. 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1072 (1979).

234. Id. at 916, quoting United States v. Serta Assoc., Inc., 296 F. Supp. 1121, 1125
(N.D.III. 1968), aff'd, 393 U.S. 534 (1969).

235. P.D.Q., Inc. v. Nissan Motor Corp. (In re Nissan Antitrust Litigation), 577 F.2d
910, 915 (5th Cir Aug. 1978), cert. denied, 439 U.S. 1072 (1979).
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to the advertisement of that fixed price, these facts would present
a different case.2 3

C. Price Fixing-Consignment Devices

The per se illegality under section 1 of the Sherman Act 237 of a
consignment agreement between a seller and his buyer that fixes the
price at which the buyer will resell the product was established in
Dr. Miles Medical Co. v. John D. Park & Sons Co. 13

1 As stated by
Justice Hughes:

[A]greements or combinations between dealers, having for their
sole purpose the destruction of competition and the fixing of prices,
are injurious to the public interest and void. . . . And where com-
modities have passed into the channels of trade and are owned by
dealers, the validity of agreements to prevent competition and to
maintain prices is not to be determined by the circumstance
whether they were produced by several manufacturers or by
one. . . . [Hiaving sold its product at prices satisfactory to itself,
the public is entitled to whatever advantage may be derived from
competition in the subsequent traffic.? 9

Adherence to this principal was followed in Simpson v. Union Oil
Co. of California,'" in which the Supreme Court held invalid an
agreement designed to avoid the prohibitions of Dr. Miles Medical
Co. by utilizing the retailer as the consignee of the seller. By using
a consignment approach, the seller retained title to the product and
could therefore specify the price at which the consignee would be
authorized to sell to the customer.2 1' The Court found that the ar-
rangement was in essence a mode of resale price maintenance that
is illegal under the Sherman Act.12

Relying upon Simpson, the plaintiff in Hardwick v. Nu-Way
Oil Co., Inc.13 challenged an agreement whereby defendant set the
price at which its retailer could resell gasoline. Plaintiff alleged that
the arrangement was a price fixing scheme, per se illegal under

236. Id. at 917.
237. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976).
238. 220 U.S. 373 (1911).
239. Id. at 408-09.
240. 377 U.S. 13 (1964).
241. Id. at 14-15. See United States v. General Elec. Co., 272 U.S. 476 (1926) (consign-

ment agreement used to market patented articles held valid).
242. Simpson v. Union Oil Co., 377 U.S. 13, 24 (1964).
243. 589 F.2d 806 (5th Cir. Feb. 1979), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).

19801
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section 1 of the Sherman Act. " ' Noting that the decision in Simpson
had not been interpreted as a "blanket condemnation of all consign-
ment agreements in which the manufacturer/supplier sets retail
prices,1145 the Fifth Circuit examined whether the facts of Hardwick
were within the prohibited scope of Simpson. The distinguishing
elements of Simpson were (1) that the "'consignees' were in fact
independent businessmen, having 'all or most of the indicia of en-
trepreneurs, except for price fixing"'" and (2) that the consignment
arrangement covered a vast distribution system, thereby fixing
prices through many retail outlets.4 7 Upon analysis of the agree-
ment between defendant and its retailer, the Fifth Circuit found
that the elements proscribed by Simpson were not present in
Hardwick;118 therefore, the agreement was not per se illegal. Rather,
the court found that the agreement bore more indicia of an employ-
ment relationship than that of an independent businessman or
"entrepreneur." ' Although policy considerations" and recent case

244. Id. at 807-08.
245. Id. at 808-09, citing Call Carl, Inc. v. B. P. Oil Corp., 554 F.2d 623, 627-28 (4th

Cir.), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 923 (1977); Pogue v. Int'l Indus., Inc., 524 F.2d 342, 345 (6th Cir.
1975); Greene v. General Foods Corp., 517 F.2d 635, 652-53, 656 (5th Cir. 1975), cert. denied,
424 U.S. 942 (1976); American Oil Co. v. McMullin, 508 F.2d 1345, 1351-52 (10th Cir. 1975);
Hardin v. Houston Chronicle Publishing Co., 434 F. Supp. 54, 56-57 (S.D.Tex. 1977), aff'd,
572 F.2d 1106 (5th Cir. 1978).

246. Hardwick v. Nu-Way Oil Co., Inc., 589 F.2d 806, 809 (5th Cir. Feb. 1979), cert.
denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979), quoting Simpson v. Union Oil Co., 377 U.S. 13, 20
(1964).

247. Id., quoting and relying on Simpson v. Union Oil Co., 377 U.S. 13, 21-22 (1964).
248. 589 F.2d 806, 809 (5th Cir. Feb. 1979), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2,

1979).
249. Id. The employment relationship between defendant and its retailer was evinced

by the following facts: (1) defendant had the right to install, at it its own expense, gasoline
pumps, tanks, and electric consoles, (2) defendant retained all ownership of the gasoline
equipment, (3) defendant maintained and repaired all equipment, (4) the agreement did not
require the station operator to purchase insurance on the gasoline equipment, (5) gasoline
taxes and personal property taxes were paid by defendant, (6) all permits and licenses re-
quired for gasoline sales operation were secured and renewed by defendant, (7) defendant
retained title to the gasoline until it was sold to the customer, (8) defendant paid the station
operator a fixed salary without regard to retail price of gasoline or the volume sold, and (9)
the agreement that the station operator held the gas as the "consignee" of the defendant. Id.
at 810-11. The indicia of an independent operation included (1) the agreement which provided
that the station operator was to be considered an independent contractor, (2) the station was
located on property owned by the station operator, (3) a grocery business was operated in
conjunction with the gasoline station, but defendant had no part in that business, (4) no
Social Security taxes or withholding taxes were paid by defendant on the operator's salary,
(5) extra personnel required to run the station were furnished by the operator, (6) tax liability
on the realty where the station was located belonged to the operator, (7) operating expenses
were borne by the operator, and (8) public advertisement of the station did not indicate that

290
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law"5 ' support a continued prohibition of resale price maintenance,
it appears that the Fifth Circuit will look to the substance of an
agreement and the factual circumstances122 surrounding it prior to
invalidating a consignment agreement as a subterfuge device de-
signed to fix resale prices.

IV. SHERMAN ACT SECTION 2 -MONOPOLIZATION

Section 2 of the Sherman Act provides that "[elvery person
who shall monopolize, or attempt to monopolize, or combine or
conspire with any other person or persons, to monopolize any part
of the trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign
nations, shall be deemed guilty of a felony. ... "53 Unlike section
1254 violations that require duality of action between two or more
participants, section 2 violations may be premised upon unilateral
action. There are two basic elements required in proving an act of
monopolization: "(1) the possession of monopoly power in the rele-
vant market and (2) the willful acquisition or maintenance of that
power as distinguished from growth or development as a conse-
quence of a superior product, business acumen, or historic acci-
dent. ''255 Proof of the first element necessitates defining those rele-
vant markets within which the defendant has the ability to control
prices or to exclude competition."' Judged against this standard the
market may be defined on the basis of geographical boundaries or
product differentiation.27 The general framework for establishing

it was defendant's operation. Id. at 809-10.
250. The Fifth Circuit indicated that consumer ability to purchase at a free market

price was generally enhanced by the retailer being able to set his own prices and that respect
for the autonomy of independent dealers in the chain of distribution supported the view that
independent distributors who assumed substantially all the financial risks should concommi-
tantly be empowered to set their own prices. Id. at 811, citing Greene v. General Foods Corp.,
517 F.2d 635, 656 (5th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 942 (1976).

251. Hardwick v. Nu-Way Oil Co., Inc., 589 F.2d 806, 811 (5th Cir. Feb. 1979), cert.
denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979), citing Greene v. General Foods Corp., 517 F.2d 635
(5th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 424 U.S. 942 (1976). See also cases cited, note 245, supra.

252. Hardwick v. Nu-Way Oil Co., Inc., 589 F.2d 806, 810-11 (5th Cir. Feb. 1979), cert.
denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979). Factual circumstances of particular import in miti-
gating against finding an agreement should be denominated a retail price maintenance
scheme are those which indicate that the defendant bears the financial risks of the market
place.

253. 15 U.S.C. § 2 (1976).
254. Id. at § 1. See note 8 supra, and accompanying text.
255. United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 570-71 (1966).
256. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 12, at 41.
257. Id.

19801
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the relevant product market was established in United States v.
E.L du Pont de Nemours & Co.258 in which the court stated that
"[in considering what is the relevant market . . . commodities
reasonably interchangeable by consumers for the same purposes
make up that 'part of the trade or commerce', monopolization of
which may be illegal. 259 The geographical area in which the de-
fendant and others compete with respect to the product at issue is
considered to be the "relevant market. 126 0 Acquisition and mainte-
nance of a monopoly power by the defendant must also be estab-
lished; otherwise, a defendant's conduct might be viewed as a result
of the right of a private individual in business "to exercise his own
independent discretion as to parties with whom he will
deal. .... 1261

In Fulton v. Hecht,2 1
2 plaintiff failed to establish this second

element of a section 2 action. The Fifth Circuit reasoned that, be-
cause the source of defendant's alleged monopoly power was not
attributable to defendant's actions, plaintiff had not established
enhancement or maintenance of monopoly power.263 Independent of
any action by defendant, approximately the same percentage of
racing dates would be conferred in the future and no substantial
change would result in defendant's share of the market, South Flor-
ida greyhound racing tracks.26'

Although identification of the relevant geographical market
was not necessary to a disposition of the case265 in Fulton, plaintiff
advanced a novel argument. Plaintiff contended that the existence
of monopoly power in the relevant market was dependent upon "the
power to control prices and exclude competition, 2 66 a standard
which was not conclusively established by merely referring to the
percentage of market share possessed by defendant.2 7 Under the

258. 351 U.S. 377 (1956).
259. Id. at 395. (Emphasis added.)
260. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 19, at 68.
261. United States v. Colgate & Co., 250 U.S. 300, 307 (1919).
262. 580 F.2d 1243 (5th Cir. Sept. 1978), cert. denied, 99 S. Ct. 1789 (1979).
263. Id. at 1247.
264. Id.
265. Id.
266. Id. at 1246 relying on the standard of United States v. E. I. du Pont de Nemours

& Co., 351 U.S. 377, 391 (1956).
267. Fulton v. Hecht, 580 F.2d 1243, 1246 (5th Cir. Sept. 1978), cert. denied, 99 S. Ct.

1789 (1979). Four race tracks were included within the general vicinity of dedendant's busi-
ness. Plaintiff contended that one track, 200 miles from the others, should be deleted from
the relevant market, thereby resulting in a 25% share of the market controlled by defendant.
If the relevant market encompassed four race tracks, defendant's market share was 20%. The
court indicated that irrespective of whether the market included three or four greyhound race

[Vol. 11:263
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plaintiff's theory, defendant possessed monopoly power by virtue of
the nature of the business: '68 (1) the three racing tracks operated for
approximately 109 days per year and, except for overlapping days
at the end of a term, no two tracks were operated at the same time;
(2) economic necessity mandated year round racing in order to be
competitive; (3) due to the allocative scheme of racing dates, each
track had absolute monopoly power during the three months when
it was the only track in operation, thereby allowing each track to
dictate booking contract terms; and (4) kennel leasing provisions
increased the monopoly power of defendants. ' The Fifth Circuit
declined to evaluate the contention. 20 Nevertheless, the argument
seems well-founded upon a realistic analysis of factual circum-
stances and economic realities. 21'

V. CLAYTON AcT SECTION 3 -TYING ARRANGEMENTS

Tying arrangements have been held to be per se violations of
section 1 of the Sherman Act and section 3 of the Clayton Act 2 2

whenever the seller possesses a monopolistic position in the tying
product or when a substantial volume of commerce in the tied prod-
uct is restrained. 213 The application of section 3 of the Clayton Act 24

to tying arrangements is indicated by the language of the statute:

tracks, the percentage market share in either case was below that generally treated as indica-
tive of monopoly power. Id., citing United States v. Grinnell Corp., 384 U.S. 563, 571 (1966)
(87%); Cliff Food Stores, Inc. v. Kroger, Inc., 417 F.2d 203, 207 n.2 (5th Cir. 1969) (50%
suggested minimum); United States v. Aluminum Co. of America, 148 F.2d 416, 425 (2d Cir.
1945) (90%). But see United States v. United Shoe Mach. Corp., 110 F. Supp. 295, 343 & n.1
(D.Mass. 1953), aff'd, 347 U.S. 521 (1954) (market share not controlling).

268. Fulton v. Hecht, 580 F.2d 1243, 1246-47 (5th Cir. Sept. 1978), cert. denied, 99 S.
Ct. 1789 (1979).

269. Id. The racing tracks owned the only public kennels operated in the area. If a dog
owner raced at all four tracks, he could lease two kennels; but, if not, only one kennel could
be leased. Plaintiff contended that in order to race year round, an economic necessity, two
kennels were required. By one track's cancellation of a racing contract, a dog breeder was
restricted to only one kennel, thereby reducing the number of greyhounds he could house
which resulted in an inability to effectively compete in the market.

270. Id. at 1247.
271. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 19, at 67.
272. See United States v. Loew's Inc., 371 U.S. 38 (1962); Northern Pac. Ry. v. United

States, 356 U.S. 1 (1958); International Salt Co. v. United States, 332 U.S. 392 (1947);
International Business Mach. Corp. v. United States, 298 U.S. 131 (1936).

273. International Salt Co. v. United States, 332 U.S. 392, 396 (1947). Although the
violation was not termed per se in International Salt, a subsequent decision labelled the rule
applied as a per se violation. Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356 U.S. 1, 8 (1958).

274. 15 U.S.C. § 14 (1976).
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It shall be unlawful for any person . . .to lease or make a sale or
contract for sale of goods . . . or other commodities . . . or fix a
price charged therefor . . . on the condition, agreement, or under-
standing that the lessee or purchaser . . . shall not use or deal in
the goods . . .or other commodities of a competitor . . .of the
lessor or seller, where the effect of such . . . may be to substan-
tially lessen competition or tend to create a monopoly in any line
of commerce.

The primary characteristic of tying is that the seller uses power
which he has in one product market in a manner which will improve
his position in another distinct product market "on a basis other
than the competitive merits of the offering."' 6 This conduct occurs
"when a seller, having a product that buyers want (the 'tying prod-
uct'), refuses to sell it alone and insists that any buyer who wants
it must also purchase another product (the 'tied product')."2" If the
parties maintain a reciprocal buyer-seller relationship, the relation-
ship is called a reciprocal dealing arrangement. 5 In other words, the
first party offers to buy goods from the second party, but only if the
second party will purchase certain goods from the first party.

During the current survey period, the Fifth Circuit examined
questions regarding the (1) immutability of the application of the
per se standard to tying arrangements, (2) the stringency of applica-
tion of the per se standard of tying arrangements falling within the
ambit of the Sherman Act versus the Clayton Act, (3) analytical
distinctions between tying arrangements and reciprocal dealing ar-
rangements, and (4) the proof required to substantiate an illegal
tying arrangement. These matters were addressed by the Court in
Spartan Grain and Mill Co. v. Ayers."' Spartan Grain & Mill Com-
pany was primarily involved in the grain supply business in north-

275. Id.
276. L. SULLIVAN, supra note 1, § 156, at 445.
277. Id. § 150, at 431.
278. FTC v. Consolidated Foods Corp., 380 U.S. 592 (1965); California Packing Corp.,

25 F.T.C. 379 (1937); Mechanical Mfg. Co., 16 F.T.C. 67 (1932); Waugh Equip. Co., 15 F.T.C.
232 (1931).

279. 581 F.2d 419 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).
Jurisdiction stemmed from diversity of citizenship. The cause arose from a suit initiated by
Spartan Grain & Mill Company against certain chicken producers for the unpaid balance on
feed bills. The producers asserted antitrust counterclaims. The contract portion of the case
was litigated, resulting in a directed verdict for Spartan Grain & Mill Company. The antitrust
claims were severed. Only those portions of the case dealing with the appeal of the district
court's ruling with regard to application of the per se standard to the antitrust allegations
will be discussed.
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eastern Georgia.180 Ayers was one of several broiler-chicken produ-
cers in the area. The business of raising broilers involved five dis-
tinct steps: (1) a breeder produced chickens that would eventually
become the laying flock for the broilers; (2) a producer either raised
his own laying flock or purchased one from a breeder; once the flock
was matured, they would produce the hatching eggs for the broilers;
(3) hatching eggs produced by the laying flock were then sold to
hatcheries; (4) after hatching, the broiler "chicks" were raised by
growers; and (5) the growers then sold the broilers to processors for
slaughter and market preparation.28' Feed merchants were involved
in all phases of the operation except for the final step of processing.

Although the industry had almost become an entirely inte-
grated process, 82 the parties in the present case had not followed
suit.2 83 When the area's industry collapsed, Spartan developed its
own contractual system of integration via contracting with breeders
to produce laying flocks and obtaining commitments from hatcher-
ies to purchase the hatching eggs raised by the producers.2 84 The
laying flocks and guaranteed markets were offered to the producers
in the area who faced the option of accepting Spartan's contractual
arrangement or ceasing their production of hatching eggs, since
market conditions mandated securing a market for the eggs.28 5 In
exchange for Spartan's offered sale of laying flocks and guaranteed
purchase of the produced hatching eggs from the producers, the
producers agreed to purchase feed only from Spartan, thereby secur-
ing Spartan in the feed market. 28

1

The producers alleged that, under section 1 of the Sherman Act
and section 3 of the Clayton Act, the arrangements designed by
Spartan Grain & Mill Company illegally tied the sale of feed (the
"tied product") to the sale of the laying flocks and the purchase of
the hatching eggs (the "tying product").2 1

8 The producers also
argued that the actions were illegal reciprocal dealings under section

280. Id. at 421.
281. Id.
282. Id. The court indicated that 99% of broilers raised were produced by "contract

growers" associated with integrated businesses or by the integrated firms themselves.
283. Id..Spartan operated on a non-integrated basis, while the producers had operated

on either a contract or independent basis.
284. Id.
285. Id. at 421-22.
286. Id. at 422. Spartan purchased the hatching eggs at a fair price, nine cents a dozen

above the spot market price in Georgia. The feed, however, was sold at a cost of $15.00 to
$20.00 more per ton than other comparable feed.

287. Id. at 422.
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1 of the Sherman Act.8"' The district court determined that, regard-
less of whether the transactions were viewed as tying arrangements
or reciprocal dealing arrangements, the producers had demon-
strated a per se violation of the federal antitrust laws under
Northern Pacific Railway v. United States.289 Central to the appeal
was the conclusion reached by the trial court that a per se violation
had occurred.

On appeal, the Fifth Circuit reversed and remanded the case
on the issue of liability, stating that characterization as a tie-in or
a reciprocal dealing was "relatively unimportant. '" 29 0 The Fifth Cir-
cuit noted that although tying arrangements have been repeatedly
held to be per se violations, 2' a per se designation did not mean that
all tying arrangements were in fact illegal. Relying upon the analysis
employed by the Supreme Court in United States Steel Corp. v.
Fortner Enterprises, Inc.,2

1
2 the court indicated that the trend in

cases alleging illegal tie-in arrangements was to utilize a quasi per
se rule, focusing upon whether there was "sufficient economic power
with respect to the tying product. ' 23 As described in Fortner, the
court should focus upon "whether the seller has the power, within
the market for the tying product, to raise prices or to require pur-
chasers to accept burdensome terms that could not be exacted in a
completely competitive market. 294

Yet, the question of whether analysis would differ according to
the classification of the transactions required resolution prior to
applying the per se analysis modified by the "sufficient economic
power" inquiry of Fortner.251 The Fifth Circuit concluded that al-
though the two transactions were factually distinguishable, catego-
rization was not required because both involved the "extension of

288. Id.
289. 356 U.S. 1 (1958).
290. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 423, 429 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978),

cert. denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).
291. Id. at 423. See cases cited at note 272 supra.
292. 429 U.S. 610 (1977).
293. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 423 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.

denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979), quoting Northern Pac. Ry. v. United States, 356
U.S. 1, 6 (1957), where the court stated that tying arrangements are "unreasonable in and of
themselves whenever a party has sufficient economic power with respect to the tying product
to appreciably restrain free competition in the market for the tied product and a 'not insub-
stantial' amount of interstate commerce is affected." Id.

294. United States Steel Corp. v. Fortner Enterprises, Inc., 429 U.S. 610, 620 (1977).
295. Reciprocal dealing arrangements involving mergers have been examined under the

per se approach. FTC v. Consolidated Foods Corp., 380 U.S. 592 (1965). The per se approach,
however, was confined to actions brought by the government in merger cases.
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economic power in the market to another market." ' Cognizant of
the Supreme Court's reluctance to impose strict standards of anti-
trust liability in areas where there is not a clear understanding of
the economic consequences of the arrangement,9 7 the Fifth Circuit
reasoned that the "standard for judging reciprocal agreements
should be no higher than the standard for judging tie-in arrange-
ments" under section 1 of the Sherman Act.298

The court, therefore, proceeded to review the case under the per
se standard appropriate for tying arrangements. Relying upon
Fortner,2 1 the court stated that the seller had "sufficient economic
power" in the market if he "has some advantage not shared by his
competitors in the market for the tying product. '" 00 The court noted
that the "unique" position of the seller can be demonstrated by
evidence of a cost advantage over competitors or evidence that the
seller's offer is "significantly differentiated" from that which others
could offer if they chose to do so." Because Spartan Grain & Mill
Co. 302 was argued and adjudicated on a misconception of the require-
ments for proving a per se violation in the context of tying arrange-
ments, the Fifth Circuit remanded the case. 3

Seeking to avoid the showing of economic power mandated by
Fortner in the per se analysis of alleged illegal tying arrangements
prohibited by section 1 of the Sherman Act,u4 the producers con-
tended that the arrangement was a per se violation of section 3 of

296. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 425 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.
denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).

297. See Continental T.V., Inc. v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 433 U.S. 36 (1977). The court
noted the limited development of the law concerning reciprocal dealing arrangements. Addi-
tionally, the court indicated that only one case had involved a reciprocity action brought as
a private suit under the antitrust laws. Columbia Nitrogen Corp. v. Royster Co., 451 F.2d 3
(4th Cir. 1971).

298. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 425 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.
denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979). The court expressed no opinion concerning the
proper standard in a reciprocity action brought by the government. Id. n.5.

299. 429 U.S. 610 (1977). Fortner was decided after the district court decision in
Spartan Grain & Mill Co.

300. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 426 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.
denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979), quoting United States Steel Corp. v. Fortner Enter-
prises, Inc., 429 U.S. 610, 620 (1977).

301. United States Steel Corp. v. Fortner Enterprises, Inc., 429 U.S. 610, 622 (1977).
302. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert. denied,

48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).
303. Id. at 428-29. The district court did not have advantage of the Fortner decision;

hence, the per se analysis did not entail determining whether "sufficient economic power" in
the market existed.

304. 15 U.S.C. § 1 (1976).
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the Clayton Act 0 5 since proof of economic power was not required
in proving a Clayton Act violation.30 The Fifth Circuit, however,
stated that the Clayton Act was inapplicable to the present case.
The court reasoned that the true tying product was the
"commitment" to purchase eggs,3 07 and a commitment does not
satisfy the definition of "a sale or contract for sale of goods ' 3 8 under
the act.309 Furthermore, the court clarified any doubt regarding the
requisite proof in an action under section 3 of the Clayton Act,
indicating that, in light of Fortner,31 0 economic power must be dem-
onstrated in a section 3 action.31" '

VI. PROOF OF DAMAGES

Under section 4 of the Clayton Act,32 treble damages, court
costs, and reasonable attorney fees may be granted to any person
who sustains and proves damages as a result of a federal antitrust
violation. Section 4 provides an incentive for litigating antitrust
claims, thereby fulfilling its remedial purpose. To prove damages,
a plaintiff must demonstrate that (1) the actions of the defendant
materially contributed to an injury to plaintiffs property or busi-
ness, and (2) a basis has been established for reasonable estimation
of the amount of damage incurred.31 3 In H & B Equipment Co. v.
International Harvester Co., 31

1 the Fifth Circuit stated that in order
for a plaintiff to satisfy its burden of proving damages in the market
preclusion context, the plaintiff must demonstrate causation in that
it could have served the market absent the alleged wrongful act of
the defendant. 5 If the proof is based on specific lost sales, however,

305. Id. at § 14.
306. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 428 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.

denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).
307. Id. The producers could purchase laying flocks without the corresponding commit-

ment from Spartan to buy the hatching eggs.
308. 15 U.S.C. § 14 (1976).
309. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 428 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.

denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979).
310. 429 U.S. 610 (1977).
311. Spartan Grain & Mill Co. v. Ayers, 581 F.2d 419, 428 (5th Cir. Oct. 1978), cert.

denied, 48 U.S.L.W. 3218 (Oct. 2, 1979), repudiating contrary dictum in Sulmeyer v. Coca
Cola Co., 515 F.2d 835 (5th Cir. 1975).

312. 15 U.S.C. § 15 (1976).
313. Terrell v. Household Goods Carriers' Bureau, 494 F.2d 16, 20 (5th Cir.), cert.

dismissed, 419 U.S. 987 (1974).
314. 577 F.2d 239 (5th Cir. July 1978).
315. Id. at 247, citing Pitchford v. PEPI, Inc., 531 F.2d 92, 104-05 (3rd Cir. 1975), cert.

denied, 426 U.S. 935 (1976), where reliance on expert testimony with regard to the ability to
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a plaintiff must show a specific monetary loss 31
1 by evidence of

greater probative weight than "self-serving" statements.3 17 Further-
more, general assertions by a plaintiff that it was forced to cease
business due to lack of market access are inadequte to prove dam-
ages absent a showing of individualized loss or proof via expert
testimony.

31 1

Kathleen Shelton

successfully serve the market was adequate. The court indicated that proof need not consist
of documentation of each lost sale.

316. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 247 (5th Cir. July
1978), citing Kestenbaum v. Falstaff Brewing Corp., 514 F.2d 690, 697 (5th Cir. 1975), cert.
denied, 424 U.S. 943 (1976). See Story Parchment Co. v. Paterson Parchment Paper Co., 282
U.S. 555, 562 (1931) (proof standard for establishing amount of damages is less than standard
required for proving the fact of injury).

317. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 247 (5th Cir. July
1978), citing Yoder Bros., Inc. v. California-Florida Plant Corp., 537 F.2d 1347 (5th Cir. 1976),
cert. denied, 429 U.S. 1094 (1977). Accord, Keener v. Sizzler Family Steak Houses, 597 F.2d
453, 457 (5th Cir. June 1979) (reliance upon self-serving statements insufficient to establish
measure of damages).

318. H & B Equip. Co. v. International Harvester Co., 577 F.2d 239, 247-48 (5th Cir.
July 1978). See Foremost-McKesson, Inc. v. Instrumentation Laboratory, Inc., 527 F.2d 417
(5th Cir. 1976).




